IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-654

CHRISTIAN E. JACKSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of a Certified Conflict Decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

INITIAL BRIEF

BEVERLY A. POHL CYNTHIA E. GUNTHER BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre 500 East Broward Blvd., Ste. 1930 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394 (954) 767-8909

Counsel for Christian E. Jackson

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Christian Jackson, an inmate at Polk Correctional Institution, seeks review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, *Jackson v. State*, 895 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (R-20-21) (*see* Appendix), affirming the denial of his Rule 3.800(a) motion. *See* SR-6 (Order Dismissing Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence). The motion sought to vacate Jackson's sentence for second degree robbery, on the ground that the record showed it was a vindictive sentence imposed in violation of due process of law. SR-1-5 (Motion).¹

The *pro se* Rule 3.800(a) motion alleged that the trial court "initiated" and participated in plea discussions, and "at the pre-trial conferences on July 6 and 7, 1998[,] and on July 8, 1998 as jury selection was to start" (SR-3), offered Jackson a 12-year prison sentence if he were to plead guilty to robbery. But when Jackson elected to go to trial and was convicted, the court imposed a substantially more severe sentence: a habitual violent felony offender sentence of 20 years incarceration (10 years mandatory) followed by 10 years probation. SR-1-5.

Relying on this Court's decision in *Wilson v. State*, 845 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 2003) (establishing procedures for judicial participation in plea discussions), Jackson's Rule

¹ The conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal in a per curiam affirmance without written opinion. *Jackson v. State*, 753 So.2d 94 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

3.800 motion alleged that by "initiating and repeating the plea offers, the trial judge departed from his role as an impartial arbiter" (SR-4), and since no factors of record supported the increased sentenced, Jackson asked the Circuit Court to "grant [the] motion and reverse and remand for resentencing before another judge. *See Jones v. State*, 750 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)." SR-5.²

Circuit Judge Richard A. Luce (Pinellas County, Sixth Judicial Circuit) "DISMISSED" the motion without examining the record and without reaching the merits, reasoning that, under controlling authority from the Second District, Rule 3.800(a) was not a proper procedural vehicle for bringing a claim of vindictive sentencing:

The Defendant alleges that his current sentence is illegal because it was vindictively imposed as a punishment for going to trial. However, *this type of claim cannot be raised in a 3.800(a) motion. Boyd v. State*, [880 So. 2d 726] 2004 WL 1123494 (Fla. 2d DCA May 21, 2004).

SR-6 (Order) (emphasis supplied).

² Jones is a direct appeal case, apparently cited for the proposition that when a presumptively vindictive sentence is imposed, and that presumption is not rebutted, resentencing before another judge is required. See also Wilson v. State, 845 So. 2d 142, 159 (Fla. 2003) ("in cases where an unrebutted presumption of judicial vindictiveness arises, we conclude that the appropriate remedy is resentencing before a different judge").

Jackson appealed, filing a *pro se* Initial Brief in the District Court. R-3-13. Pursuant to Rule 9.141(b)(2)(C), Fla.R.App.P., governing appeals from the summary denial of post-conviction motions decided without an evidentiary hearing, the State did not file a Brief. The Second District affirmed in a summary appeal, also citing its prior decision in *Boyd v. State*, 880 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 2d DCA), *rev. denied* 888 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 2004), but certified "direct conflict" with *Johnson v. State*, 877 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), which had "reversed a circuit court order denying a rule 3.800(a) motion and remanded for consideration of the claim of vindictive sentencing raised in the motion." R-20-21.

Petitioner Christian Jackson timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary review,³ and this Court postponed a decision on jurisdiction, appointed undersigned counsel, and ordered briefing. (April 27, 2005 Order).

³ The Notice to Invoke was dated April 11, 2005, a Sunday. Pursuant to Rule 9.420(f) ("The last day of the period so computed shall be included unless it is a Saturday, a Sunday, or a holiday described below, in which event, the period shall run until the end of the next day that is neither a Saturday, Sunday, nor holiday"), it was timely.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. This Court has two bases for jurisdiction in this case, both certified conflict with Johnson v. State, 877 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), and express and direct conflict with Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), invoking the Florida constitutional jurisdictional provisions of Article V, Section 3(b)(4) and Section 3(b)(3), respectively. The Court should accept jurisdiction and decide whether the trial courts of this state are empowered to correct a vindictive sentence - one imposed in violation of due process of law and Wilson v. State, 845 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 2003) - in a proceeding brought under Rule 3.800(a), when the record supportsand does not rebut the allegation of vindictiveness. The fact that many courts are following the guidance of Boyd v. State, 880 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), rev. denied 888 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 2004) (table), and holding that such claims are not cognizable under Rule 3.800(a), deprives Christian Jackson, and others similarly situated, of any post-conviction remedy for what is recognized to be an unconstitutional sentence. This Court should grant review to consider whether those courts are improperly limiting the reach of Rule 3.800(a).

2. Claims of vindictive sentencing that are supported by the record (defined as all non-hearsay documents in the trial clerk's record, including the trial transcript) should be cognizable in a Rule 3.800(a) proceeding, because a sentence shown to be

imposed in violation of *Wilson v. State*, 845 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 2003), and in violation of due process of law, falls within the definition of "illegal sentence" announced in *Carter v. State*, 786 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 2001), and should not have to be served.

The decision leading to a spate of recent decisions, including the decision below, holding that claims of vindictive sentencing may *not* be brought in a Rule 3.800(a) proceeding, *Boyd v. State*, 880 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), *rev. denied* 888 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 2004), was wrongly decided because it misapplied the *Carter* definition of "illegal sentence." *Boyd* focused solely on the length of the defendant's sentence, but a sentence within the statutory maximum can still be "illegal" under *Carter*, and an unconstitutional vindictive sentence established by the record is within that category.

Chief Judge Schwartz had it right in *Smith v. State*, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), which held, in a Rule 3.800 proceeding, that reversal and resentencing before another judge was "required" where the record revealed that the trial court imposed a vindictive sentence. Petitioner Christian Jackson's allegations – which identified (but did not attach) the portions of the record supporting his claim – should be considered on the merits, affording him an opportunity to supplement his motion with the portions of the record that he has referenced in his Rule 3.800(a) motion. If his 20-year incarcerative sentence, followed by 10-years probation, was imposed in

violation of due process, Rule 3.800(a) provides an appropriate procedural vehicle, based on the record, and without the need for an evidentiary hearing, to challenge, vacate, and correct that sentence.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION

Because the Second District Court of Appeal certified conflict with a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, *Johnson v. State*, 877 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), which reversed the denial of a Rule 3.800(a) motion alleging vindictive sentencing and "remanded for consideration of Defendant's motion in light of the totality of the circumstances," *id.* at 796, implicitly acknowledging that such a claim is cognizable in a Rule 3.800(a) proceeding, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution (the supreme court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that . . . is certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal"). But since the Court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction, we address jurisdiction as a threshold matter. The Second District has certified direct conflict with *Johnson* on this issue three times.⁴ The Third District has certified direct conflict with *Johnson* on this issue seven times.⁵ *Johnson* has not been overruled by this Court or receded from by the Fifth District acting *en banc*, so *Johnson* remains in force and the conflict that has been recognized and certified by ten appellate panels continues. *See Bunkley v. State*, 882 So.2d 890, 908 (Fla. 2004) ("the `decisions of the district courts of appeal represent the law of Florida unless and until they are overruled by this Court."") (internal citation omitted); *Wood v. Fraser*, 677 So.2d 15, 18 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) ("absent an en banc opinion expressly receding from a point of law announced in previous opinions of this court, a trial court should not rely on the expressions of a three-judge panel as a basis to conclude that a previous opinion of another three-judge panel no longer carries the force of law").

⁴ In addition to this case, *see Griffin v. State*, So. 2d , 30 Fla. L. Weekly D93 (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 29, 2004); *Ey v. State*, 884 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004).

⁵ See Gonzalez v. State, 897 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Taylor v. State, 897 So. 2d 495, 497 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) ("The Fifth District allows a vindictive sentencing issue to be raised by a Rule 3.800(a) motion. . . . We certify direct conflict with Johnson."); Reese v. State, 896 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Satahoo v. State, 895 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Luma v. State, 895 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Galindez v. State, 892 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005); Wright v. State, 891 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005).

However, recently in *Bouno v. State*, _____ So. 2d ____, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D945 (Fla. 5th DCA April 8, 2005), a panel of the Fifth District concluded that claims of vindictive sentencing are *not* cognizable in a Rule 3.800(a) motion, and (contrary to the ten decisions cited in footnotes 4 and 5) further concluded that that holding did *not* conflict with that court's prior opinion in *Johnson*.

Apparently looking beyond the four corners of the decision in *Johnson*, and delving into the record, *Bouno* distinguished *Johnson* this way: "A review of this court's file in [*Johnson*], however, reveals that the state never raised the procedural objection that is the basis of our holding today, and that issue was not addressed in the panel opinion. Instead, the only issue addressed in *Johnson* was whether the lower court had correctly applied the law of the case doctrine. Therefore, our opinion today *does not conflict* with *Johnson* . . ." *Bouno*, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D945 (emphasis supplied).⁶

That district court opinion (*Bouno*) concerning the meaning of *Johnson*, a prior panel opinion from the same district court, does not divest this Court of jurisdiction that is based on certified conflict (*see* Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.), but if it creates any doubt about whether that certification was correct, or whether this Court's

⁶ We note that Judge Monaco was on the panel both in *Bouno* and in *Johnson*.

certified conflict jurisdiction should be exercised, we note that there is another basis for jurisdiction in this Court: express and direct conflict with a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

In Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (Schwartz, C.J.), in an "appeal from the denial of the defendant's 3.800 motion," the court found that "the trial judge improperly imposed a `vindictive' sentence," and therefore "[a]s required, ... reverse[d] for resentencing of the defendant before a different judge." Id. That is both the relief sought and mechanism utilized by Petitioner Christian Jackson in the Circuit Court, but which was found there and in the court below to be unavailable via a Rule 3.800 proceeding. See Appendix, p. 1 (R-20) ("a claim of vindictive sentencing is not cognizable in a motion to correct an illegal sentence filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a)"). Thus, the Second District's decision in this case is in express and direct conflict with Smith v. State, and this Court has an alternative basis for jurisdiction – conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution. ("the supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that ... expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law").

We recognize that other panels of the Third District Court of Appeal (subsequent to Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047) have decided that a claim of vindictive sentencing *cannot* be maintained in a Rule 3.800 proceeding (see n. 5, supra, and Martinez v. State, So. 2d , 30 Fla. L. Weekly D1150 (Fla. 3d DCA May 4, 2005) (citing cases)), with some decisions attempting to distinguish *Smith*. See Reese v. State, 896 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) (Cope, J.) (in Smith "there is no indication that any procedural objection was raised to the use of Rule 3.800(a). . . and the panel opinion did not discuss the procedural issue"), rev. dism., pet. for reinstatement pending, Case No. SC05-612.7 But it is well established that this Court's conflict jurisdiction must be determined from the "four corners" of the decisions asserted to be in express and direct conflict, without resort to examining the record or speculating about what objections may have been raised by the parties below. See Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986) ("Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, *i.e.*, it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction. See Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980)."

⁷ Judge Cope's discussion of *Smith* in *Reese*, appearing also in *Taylor v. State*, 897 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), was a reprise of his concurring opinion views in *Wright v. State*, 891 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005).

Applying that standard, the conflict between the Second District's decision in this case – saying that "a claim of vindictive sentencing is not cognizable" in a 3.800(a) motion (Appendix, p. 1) (R-20) – and the Third District's reversal of the alleged vindictive sentence in *Smith v. State*, 842 So. 2d 1047, an "appeal from the denial of the defendant's 3.800 motion," is express and direct, as required by Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, and of sufficient importance to warrant this Court's review. Otherwise, persons such as Petitioner Christian Jackson, who allege that the record establishes a vindictive sentence in violation of due process of law, will not have the same post-conviction remedy that the defendant in *Smith v. State* successfully and rightly obtained.

In *Smith*, Chief Judge Schwartz found that this Court's decision in *Wilson v*. *State*, 845 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 2003), "*required*" reversal of the sentence, where a presumption of vindictiveness was "not only unrebutted but actually confirmed by the record." *Smith*, 842 So. 2d at 1047 (emphasis supplied). That is the right analysis. Thus, neither *Bouno*'s "no conflict" conclusion nor the authorities that follow *Boyd v. State*, 880 So. 2d at 726, and either ignore or seek to distinguish *Smith*, should dissuade this Court from accepting jurisdiction in this case to clarify and establish controlling law throughout the State. Prison sentences that violate due process of law ought to be correctable anywhere in the State, and only this Court can ensure that uniformity.

In sum, there is both certified conflict jurisdiction with the Fifth District's *Johnson* decision, and express and direct conflict jurisdiction with the Third District's *Smith* decision. The issue is of sufficient importance that this Court should accept jurisdiction and decide whether or not an allegedly vindictive sentence appearing on the face of the record – an admittedly unconstitutional sentence – is one that is also "illegal" under Florida law, and thus subject to being corrected under Rule 3.800(a).

II.

THE ALLEGATION THAT A PRESUMPTIVELY VINDICTIVE SENTENCE APPEARS ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD SHOULD BE A COGNIZABLE CLAIM IN A RULE 3.800(a) MOTION TO VACATE AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE

The issue presented – the legal sufficiency of the pleading under Rule 3.800(a), Fla.R.Crim.P., and the scope of relief available under that rule of procedure – is an issue of law subject to *de novo* review. *See State v. McBride*, 848 So. 2d 287, 289 (Fla. 2003).

Rule 3.800(a) provides that relief from an "illegal sentence" may be sought at any time, as long as the grounds for relief appear on the face of the record:

(a) Correction. A court may at any time correct an *illegal sentence* imposed by it, or an incorrect calculation made by it in a sentencing scoresheet, or a sentence that does not grant proper credit for time served *when it is affirmatively alleged that the court records demonstrate on their face an entitlement to that relief*, provided that a party may not file a motion to correct an illegal sentence under this subdivision during the time allowed for the filing of a motion under subdivision (b)(1) or during the pendency of a direct appeal.

(emphasis supplied). Rule 3.800(a) "is intended to balance the need for finality of convictions and sentences with the goal of ensuring that criminal defendants *do not serve sentences imposed contrary to the requirements of law*." *State v. McBride, supra*, 848 So. 2d at 289 (*quoting Carter*, 786 So.2d at 1176) (emphasis supplied). "Contrary to the requirements of law" does not mean that any and all sentencing errors may be corrected "at any time," but we argue here that a "vindictive sentence" in violation of due process of law – appearing on the face of the record – falls within the subset of sentences that are contrary to the requirements of law, and that should not have to be served.⁸

⁸ The due process violation of an increased sentence imposed in retaliation for going to trial, rather than accepting a plea urged by the sentencing court, is well established and needs no further elucidation here. *See Wilson v. State*, 845 So. 2d 142, 148-157 (Fla. 2003) (discussing United States Supreme Court precedents and constitutional principles). We note here that the term "vindictive sentence," for an

The term "illegal sentence" used in Rule 3.800(a) is not defined in the Rules, which has led to some confusion and inconsistent results. See Carter v. State, 786 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. 2001), noting the evolving definition of "illegal sentence," narrowing the definition, and referring the question to the Criminal Appeals Reform Act Committee and the Florida Bar Criminal Procedure Rules Committee for further study of whether the rule should define what types of sentences should be deemed "illegal." While recognizing that a single definition of the term has been elusive, this Court has most recently defined an illegal sentence as one that "imposes *a kind of*

A showing of vindictiveness does not require that the trial judge affirmatively intended to punish the defendant for rejecting a plea. "Vindictive" in this context is a term of art which expresses the legal effect of a given course of action, and does not imply any personal or subjective animosity between the court and the defendant. *Cambridge v. State*, 884 So.2d 535 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); *Harris v. State*, 845 So.2d 329 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); *Charles v. State*, 816 So.2d 731 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002).

Of course actual vindictiveness is as unacceptable as "legal" vindictiveness. *See Smith v. State*, 842 So. 2d 1047, 1048 n. 2 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (reversing sentence, and noting that the trial judge's "remark indicates that, unlike the usual case, he may have been `vindictive' in the dictionary, as well as in the legal sense").

increased sentence after a successful appeal, or after trial in lieu of a plea, absent factors justifying the increased sentence, has become a legal term of art, and does not necessarily require subjective judicial animosity toward the defendant. *See Longley v. State*, _____ So. 2d ____, 2005 WL 1312359, *2, n. 5 (Fla. 5th DCA June 3, 2005):

punishment that no judge under the entire body of sentencing statutes could possibly inflict under any set of factual circumstances." *Carter v. State*, 786 So. 2d at 1181 (emphasis supplied) (*quoting Blakley v. State*, 746 So. 2d 1182, 1187 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)).

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