IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHRISTIAN E. JACKSON,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC05-654

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO
Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 175130 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2367 (813)801-0600 Fax (813)873-4771

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Τ. This Court does not have jurisdiction based upon "certified direct conflict" under Article V., § 3(b)(4) between the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Jackson v. State, 895 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) and the Fifth District in Johnson v. State, 877 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), nor does this Court have jurisdiction based upon "express and direct conflict", pursuant to Article V., § 3(b)3) between the Second District in Jackson, supra., and the Third District in Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 2003). There is no ground for "certified direct conflict" or "direct and express conflict" because there is no conflict between the decision of Second District and those of the Fifth and Third District. Neither Johnson, supra., nor Smith, supra., ever addressed the procedural bar issue that a vindictive sentencing claim cannot be brought under a rule 3.800(a) motion; both those cases rested on the merits of the vindictiveness claims themselves. Jackson, supra, never addresses the merits of the vindictive sentencing claim finding the claim is procedurally barred. Furthermore, both the Fifth District and the Third District have subsequently clarified and distinguished their decisions in Johnson, supra., and Smith., supra, respectively and held neither case addressed the procedural bar claim and have adopted the reasoning of the

Second District. This lends further support to the respondent's argument there is no basis for conflict jurisdiction.

Even if this Court were to determine it has conflict jurisdiction, it should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case based upon the fact the only district courts of appeal that have rendered decisions on this issue of whether a vindictive sentencing claim can be raised in rule 3.800(a), the Second, Third, Fourth and Fifth Districts are in agreement that such claims cannot be raised in a 3.800(a) motion.

II. A vindictive sentencing cannot be brought under a rule 3.800(a) motion because such a sentence itself not an "illegal sentence". "[a] sentence is 'illegal' if it 'imposes a kind of punishment that no judge under the entire sentencing body of sentencing statutes could possibly inflict under any set of factual circumstances Carter v. State, 786 So. 2d 1173, 1181 (Fla. 2001) (bold emphasis added). Petitioner's sentence as a habitual violent felony offender of twenty years imprisonment with a ten year mandatory minimum term followed by ten years probation for the robbery, a second degree felony is a legal sentence. As the Second District reasoned in Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73, at 77 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (bold emphasis added) "Rule 3.800(a) is intended to provide relief for a narrow category of cases in which the sentence imposes a penalty that

is simply not authorized by law. It is concerned primarily with whether the terms and conditions of the punishment for a particular case are permissible as a matter of law. It is not a vehicle designed to re-examine whether the procedure employed to impose the punishment comported with statutory law and due process."

Petitioner's remedy was to raise the issue on vindictive sentencing on direct appeal or in a timely filed 3.850 motion and not raise the issue at any time under a 3.800(a) motion.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE AND/OR WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE (RESTATED).

Initially, respondent takes the position this Court lacks jurisdiction to review the decision of the Second District in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 895 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) based upon either certified conflict with <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) pursuant to Art. V., § 3(b)(4) or Art. V., § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution.

Under Art. V., \S 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution, provides in pertinent part that the Florida Supreme Court:

(3) May review any decision of a district court of appeal... that is certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal.

There is no certifiable direct conflict between the decision of the Second District in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 895 So. 2d 1275 and the Fifth District in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795. In <u>Jackson</u>, <u>supra.</u>, a decision rendered on March 5, 2005, the Second District never reached the merits of appellant's claim of vindictive sentencing finding the claim was procedurally barred by holding "a claim of vindictive sentencing is not cognizable

in a motion to correct an illegal sentence filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a)". In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795, a decision rendered by the Fifth District on July 2, 4004, the Fifth District never addressed this procedural bar claim with the four corners of the opinion. The cases are distinguishable and the decisions based upon different legal principles: <u>Jackson</u>, <u>supra.</u>, on procedural bar and <u>Johnson</u>, <u>supra.</u>, on the legal merits of the vindictive sentencing claim. <u>See Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986):

This case illustrates a common error in preparing jurisdictional briefs based on alleges decisional conflict. only facts relevant to our decision to accept or reject such petitions are those facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict....we are not permitted to base our conflict jurisdiction on review of the record or on facts recited only in dissenting points. it is pointless and misleading to comprehensive recitation of facts not appearing in the decision below, with citations to the record, as petitioner Similarly, voluminous provided here. appendices are normally not permitted.

More importantly, the decision by the Fifth District in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795, rendered by a panel consisting of Judges Sawaya, Peterson and Monaco, was explained and distinguished by another panel consisting of Judges Torpy, Griffin and Monaco in Bouno v. State, 900 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 5th

DCA 2005) rendered on April 8, 2005. In <u>Bouno</u>, *id.*, the panel specifically held claims of vindictive sentencing are not cognizable under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) specifically relying upon the decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Reese v. State</u>, 896 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) and the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Boyd v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), *review denied*, 888 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 2004). As the panel in Bouno, *id.*, stated:

In concluding as we have, we have not overlooked our recent opinion in Johnson v. State, 877 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), we remanded for consideration a similar claim made pursuant to rule 3.800(a). A review of this court's file in that case, however, reveals that the state never raised the procedural objection that is the basis of our holding today, and that issue was not addressed in the panel opinion. Instead, the only issue addressed in Johnson was whether the lower court erred had correctly applied the law of the case doctrine. Therefore, our opinion today does not conflict with Johnson.

The <u>Bouno</u>, *id.*, opinion lends further support to respondent. There is no certifiable direct conflict between the decision in the Second District in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 895 So. 2d 1275 and the Fifth District in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795, because the procedural bar issue was never raised in appellate pleadings or discussed in the opinion. The <u>Bouno</u>, *supra*, procedural bar decision being the being the more recent decision out of the

Fifth District takes precedence over <u>Johnson v. State</u>, supra and negates any conflict with the Second District in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, supra. Cf. <u>State v. Walker</u>, 593 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1992). The Fourth District in Walker held life felonies were not subject to enhancement under the habitual offender statute. Walker sought conflict jurisdiction relying upon a panel decision of the First District in <u>Watson v. State</u>, 504 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) which came to the opposite conclusion. This Court, the Florida Supreme Court, noted in 1990 another panel decision of the First District in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) agreed with the holding in Walker. This Court then rejected conflict jurisdiction stating:

Consequently, the cited decisions present no direct and express conflict as required by article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. See *Little v. State*, 206 So. 2d 9, 10 (Fla. 1968) (holding that in the result of intradistrict conflict, the decision later in overrules the former as the decisional law in the district).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in the cases <u>Baker v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 2005 Fla. App. LEXIS 7269; 30 Fla. L. Weekly D1268 (Fla.

4th DCA May 18, 2005) and <u>Benedetto v. State</u>, 895 So. 2d (4th DCA 2005), has rendered per curiam opinions holding claims of vindictive sentencing cannot be raised in a 3.800(a) motion relying upon the case of Boyd v. State, 880 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 2d

DCA 2004) review denied <u>Boyd v. State</u>, 888 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 2004).

Although the Third District Court of Appeal has certified conflict with the Fifth District's decision in Johnson v. State, 877 So. 2d 795 in the cases cited by the petitioner: Gonzalez v. State, 897 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) notice of direct conflict filed SC05-593, Taylor v. State, 897 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), notice of certified conflict filed SC05-420, Reese v. State, 896 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), notice of certified conflict filed SC05-612, Satahoo v. State, 895 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), notice of certified conflict filed SC05-388, Luma v. State, 895 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), notice of certified conflict filed SC05-389, Galindez v. State, 892 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), notice of certified conflict filed SC05-513, and Wright v. State, 891 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), notice of certified conflict filed SC05-232, the Third District has also held in each of these cases a claim of vindictive sentencing cannot be raised in a 3.800(a) motion to correct illegal sentence. More importantly, the Third District in Taylor, supra., Reese, supra., and Wright, supra, explained and distinguished previous cases wherein other panels of the Third District in Ortiz v. State, 884 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) and Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003)

where the court reached the reached the legal merits of vindictive sentencing claims raised in 3.800(a) motion:

We comment briefly on two recent cases from this court which addressed the vindictive sentencing claims which had been brought under *Rule 3.800(a)*. Both cases are distinguishable:

In Ortiz v. State, 884 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), this court issued an opinion denying a claim of vindictive sentencing which had been brought under Rule 3.800(a). There is no indication that any procedural objection was raised to the use of Rule 3.800(a) in that case, and the procedural issue was not discussed in the Ortiz opinion.

In Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), this court issued an opinion which granted relief on a vindictive sentencing claim which had been brought under Rule 3.800(a). Again, there is no indication that any procedural objection was raised to the use of Rule 3.800(a) in that case, and the panel opinion did not discuss the procedural issue. A review of this court's file in Smith indicates that the Rule 3.800(a) motion was filed within the two-year time limit for a motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Since the Rule 3.800(a) motion could have been treated as a timely Rule 3.850 motion, the procedural error had no practical significance in that case.

The Third District, respondent submits the Second District erred in certifying conflict with the Fifth District in <u>Johnson</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795 because there is not direct conflict.

In <u>Gonzalez</u>, <u>Taylor</u>, <u>Reese</u>, <u>Satahoo</u>, <u>Luma</u>, <u>Galindez</u>, and <u>Wright</u>,

supra, the Third District never reached the merits of the appellant's claim of vindictive sentencing finding the claim was procedurally barred by holding a claim of vindictive sentencing is not cognizable in a motion to correct an illegal sentence filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a). In Johnson v. State, 877 So. 2d 795, a decision rendered by the Fifth District on July 2, 4004, the Fifth District never addressed this procedural bar claim with the four corners of the opinion. See Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986).

Additionally, just as the Fifth District's decision in <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 795, was later explained and distinguished in <u>Bouno</u>, <u>supra</u>, so also the Third District in <u>Taylor</u>, <u>supra</u>., <u>Reese</u>, <u>supra</u>., and <u>Wright</u>, <u>supra</u>, explained and distinguished previous cases wherein other panels of the Third District in <u>Ortiz v. State</u>, 884 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) and <u>Smith v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) where the court reached the legal merits of vindictive sentencing claims raised in 3.800(a) motion.

Petitioner then makes an alternative jurisdictional argument stating even if this Court were to determine certified conflict jurisdiction was incorrect, nevertheless, this Court has jurisdiction based upon "express and direct conflict", under Article V., § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (The supreme court

"may review any decision of a district court of appeal...that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal..."). Petitioner argues the decision of the Second District in <u>Jackson</u>, <u>supra.</u>, is in direct and express conflict with the Third District in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). Petitioner again makes the argument that decision of the Third District in <u>Smith</u>, <u>id.</u>, "expressly and directly "conflicts with the Second District in Jackson., <u>supra.</u>

Respondent must disagree. There is no express and direct conflict. Respondent reiterates its argument made earlier regarding conflict alleged with the Fifth District in <u>Johnson</u>, supra. There is no direct and express conflict between the two decisions. The decision in <u>Smith</u>, supra., never addressed this procedural bar claim with the four corners of the opinion. The cases are distinguishable and the decisions based upon different legal principles: <u>Jackson</u>, supra., on procedural bar and <u>Smith</u>, supra., on the legal merits of the vindictive sentencing claim. See Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986).

Petitioner acknowledges the Third District in decisions subsequent to <u>Smith</u>, supra. Indeed, as the respondent explained above, the Third District in <u>Taylor</u>, supra., <u>Reese</u>, supra., and <u>Wright</u>, supra, explained and distinguished previous cases wherein other panels of the Third District in Ortiz v. State,

884 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) and Smith v. State, 842 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) where the court reached the reached the legal merits of vindictive sentencing claims raised in 3.800(a) motion from Taylor, supra., Reese, supra., and Wright, supra, which were based on procedural bar. The Taylor, supra., Reese, supra., and Wright, supra, procedural bar decisions being the being the more recent decision out of the Third District takes precedence over Smith v. State, supra and negates any conflict with the Second District in Jackson v. State, supra. Cf. State v. Walker, 593 So. 2d 1049 (Fla. 1992).

Finally, even if this Court should determine it has discretionary jurisdiction based upon either certified conflict or express and direct conflict, respondent submits this Court deny discretionary review, because as a result of subsequent decisions out of the Fifth District in Bouno, supra., and the Third District in Taylor, supra., Reese, supra., and Wright, supra, there is no conflict between the Second District in Jackson, supra, and the Third and Fifth District courts of appeal who now agree with the Second District that claims of vindictive sentencing cannot be brought under a rule 3.800(a) motion.

ISSUE II

WHETHER A CLAIM OF VINDICTIVE SENTENCING WHICH IT IS ALLEGED APPEARS ON THE FACE OF THE RECORD CAN BE RAISED AT ANY TIME IN A RULE 3.800(A) MOTION TO VACATE AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE (RESTATED).

The standard of review is de novo since the issue involved is a question of legal procedure.

Respondent submits a claim of vindictive sentencing even if it is alleged is apparent on the face of the record cannot be raised in rule 3.800(a) motion. As this Court reasoned in Carter v. State, 786 So. 2d 1173, 1177-1178, 1181 (Fla. 2001):

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